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                                                           Chapter 1  

Ballyfermot from the Beginning 

 

Ballyfermot is approximately five miles from Dublin City centre overlooking 

the river Liffey on the south side of Chapelizod. Other surrounding suburbs are 

Inchicore, Palmerstown, Clondalkin, Neilstown, and Bluebell. The name Baile 

Diarmuid, ‘the town of Dermot’, is said to have derived its name from Dermot 

MacGillamocholmo who was a grandson of Dermot McMorrough the king of Leinster 

and owned a large part of the lands in Dublin along with Ballyfermot. There was a 

castle, church, and graveyard in Ballyfermot dedicated to St Laurence. John Dalton 

wrote in 1838. ‘The church contains no tombstones worthy of notice’ he mentions the 

Castle and the Graveyard.1  Francis Elrington Ball wrote in 1906.  

That there were no trace of the castle to be found, and the only remains of old buildings in the 

vicinity of the church are a curious brick wall built with alcoves for the protection of fruit 

trees, and an artificial fish pond partly faced with cut stone.2 

 The ruins of the graveyard were there till the early 1970s. Dublin Corporation 

then demolished what was left, because it was a danger to public health and safety.  

 Johnstown House on Le Fanu Road, which is now St Johns De La Salle Monastery, 

is the oldest remaining house left in Ballyfermot. Rafters Farm House, which was the 

oldest farmhouse in the area, became the Presbytery to our Lady of the Assumption 

Church in the 1950s. Rafters House was demolished in 2005 and Senior Citizens 

Apartments are now built on the site.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 John Dalton, History of County Dublin ( Dublin, 1838), pp 638 - 641  
2 Francis Elrington Ball, History of County Dublin IV (Dublin,1906), pp101 - 106 
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History of Kathleen Behan 

 

Kathleen Behan was born in 1910 in Peamount, County Dublin but came to 

live in Ballyfermot with her family. They rented the orange coloured house beside the 

railway bridge on Le Fanu Road. The family left the house in early 1960s and the 

house later became a Video Shop. The main road in Ballyfermot then was Blackditch 

Road and at that time, it was essentially a lane with land league Cottages back to back 

along the lane. The Inchicore Road began from Grange Cross. This was a country 

road with very high hedges. The only big house along the road was Rafters Farm 

House. Rafters owned most of the local land and used it for cattle grazing. Their land 

spread from opposite Kathleen's House at the railway bridge right down to Inchicore. 

Small Cottages were also dotted along the Inchicore Road. People then shopped in 

Inchicore or Chapelizod. An old Ballyfermot family called Connolly’s had a small 

shop beside Kathleen’s House where ‘Seven Days’ shop was. The remains of an old 

church wall and graveyard were not far away from Kathleen’s House. Kathleen never 

recalls the 'The Tiled House3, beside the railway bridge that Sheridan Le Fanu wrote 

about. Dances were held in the fine weather at Grange Cross every Sunday where 

Fowlers pub or the old County Bar is today. Accordion and fiddler players would 

supply the music while the dancers step-danced the old style. This attracted boys and 

girls as far away as Clondalkin and Inchicore. The Dances continued till 1935. Dublin 

Corporation purchased some of the land from the Rafter Family. They started to clear 

the land to plan out the new scheme. The Second World War began and all the 

planning was stopped. After the war, the work resumed. Many of the old locals did 

not like to see Ballyfermot change, from a green belt into a concrete landscape, 

Kathleen married a man from Ballyfermot, and got a house on Gurteen Avenue. Both 

Kathleen and her sister Pidge were struck by some of the poverty they encountered 

with the new people from the city. They admired the new people’s courage and the 

good spirit. However, they did miss picking the blackberries and mushrooms in the 

open fields of Ballyfermot.  

 

 

 

 

                                                 
3 Website, http://www.chapters.eiretek.org/books/General/lefanuhouse.htm 
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Figure 1 

 

 
 

The castle, church, and graveyard site beside where Kathleen grew up. 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2 
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Rafter’s Farm House the land was purchased by Dublin Corporation in 1947 for to build 

Sarsfield /Ballyfermot Housing Development  

Figure 3 

 

 

 
 

Hand drawn map by Ken Larkin showing Ballyfermot Lower 1946 

In the 1946 street directory Ballyfermot Road, were described as running from Sarsfield 

Road, to the Seventh Lock. 

 

Thom’s directory lists for 1948-9 the residents of Ballyfermot Road as follows. 

Beamish H, Arranmore 

Lawlor P, Old Ballyfermot House 

Dowling P, Gallanstown House 

Elliot Mrs, Stone House 

Geraghty Patrick, Ballyfermot Cottage 

Gregan Patrick, Ballyfermot House 

Horan C. 

Murray James, Wine & Spirit Merchants 7th Lock. 

 

The address Stone House as mentioned in the map above was featured in Le 

Fanu’s book ‘The House by the Churchyard’4 and was situated in what is now 

Markievicz Park. The house is now long gone and its last residents were the 

                                                 
4 Website, http://www.chapters.eiretek.org/books/General/lefanuhouse.htm 
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Merriman family. The roundabout that was at Grange Cross, which was there since 

the Ballyfermot Estate began in 1950, is now replaced by traffic lights.   

Figure 4 

 

 
Ordnance Survey Map 1837, revised in 1937. 

 

Dublin Corporation purchased the farmland from Patrick Rafter in 1947, for 

lower Ballyfermot housing development. But on Maps in the Valuation Office it 

showed that Dublin Corporation had planned the housing development as far back as 

1937. The Second World War started in 1939 and ran to 1945. The Corporation then 

started to build the Sarsfield Road / Ballyfermot housing estate in 1948 and finished 

in 1951. Sarsfield Road was the main road and it ran from the Model school in 

Inchicore, under the railway bridge and right up to where Ballyfermot roundabout and 

Our Lady of the Assumption Church are now. The road structure changed in 1950 and 

Sarsfield Road ran as far as the junction of St Laurence Road. Ballyfermot Road starts 

from St Laurence Road, to Cherry Orchard Hospital. Dublin Corporation had used 

different themes in the naming of roads in other housing estates. They named the 

roads after mountains in Drimnagh after monasteries in Crumlin. So in keeping with 

this idea the roads in Sarsfield estate (lower Ballyfermot) were named after people 

and places connected with the life and times of Patrick Sarsfield, the siege of 

Limerick and the Wild Geese. Sarsfield Road lower, Ballyfermot Road, Decies, 

Thomond, Muskerry, Ramillies Cremona, Lally, Landen, Garryowen, O Hogan, O 
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Moore, and Ballyneety were the houses built in all there were 1,594 houses built. By 

1964 there were 5,619 houses in Ballyfermot. 

1951-53 Sarsfield Estate Ballyfermot Lower and Colepark Estate 

1953-54 Blackditch Estate 

1954-59 Drumfinn Estate 

1975-76 Cloverhill Estate 

1983- 86 Cherry Orchard Estate 

 

Dublin Corporation decided to use the theme of the West of Ireland when naming 

roads in Ballyfermot upper. 

 

Moving into the new Scheme 

Now that Sarsfield Houses, and lower Ballyfermot Houses, were ready for 

habitation lots of families were leaving the slums and tenements of the inner city. The 

slums and the tenements were smelly rundown buildings some with only one bedroom 

and a divide in the room for the kitchen area and families were sharing one toilet and 

a bath with up to six or more families in the one house. The people selected for these 

new houses were on the Dublin Corporation housing list and were judged on a points 

table. To achieve the points the following was the criteria. How many in the family, 

and their living arrangements. The income going into the household was also taking 

into consideration. So began the move to their new homes, which they knew as going 

out into the country. As unemployment was rampant in Dublin throughout the 1940s-

50s many fathers were away working in England and further a field. It was not 

unusual for the mothers and their children to move to their new home and when the 

fathers arrived back in Ireland on holidays he would be met at the boat and be brought 

out to their new home for the first time. Bill Cullen author of ‘It’s a long way from 

Penny Apples’ tells of his father and mothers experience when they got word they got 

a house in Ballyfermot. They were living in the tenements of Summerhill. Bill and his 

mother walked the five miles from Dublin city to Ballyfermot to see number 245 

Ballyfermot Road opposite Our Lady of the Assumption Church. Of course, they saw 

everything that they did not have in their flat in the inner city. Three bedrooms one 

with a built in wardrobe, two taps, with hot and cold water a bath, and a toilet, that 

they would not have to share with other families. Bill fell in love with the house 

straight away. However, on their way back into the city on the bus his mother was 
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doing her sums. Because she had a stall in Moore Street, where she sold fruit and 

vegetables, this would mean that she would have to travel into the city twice each day. 

The added cost of 12s. 0d. per week bus fare, along with another 6s. 0d for Bill and 

his sisters to go into the school in the city, and another 3s.0p. for her daughters who 

helped on the stalls this cost would have bought an extra box of apples. After much 

deliberation Bills mother and father decided not to take the house. They eventually 

received a house in Portland Row not far from Summerhill tenements.5  

 People first impressions when they saw Ballyfermot were ‘Loads of muck and dirt 

and half built houses’, they were wondering did they make a mistake in their decision 

by moving but first impressions are not always lasting impressions as they grew to 

love the area and their community.   

 

Poem Growing up in Ballyer  

I remember waiting that day for the Lorry to pull up. 

We had our furniture ready just to load up. 

We were moving to a housing estate the year were ’55. 

My Mother, Sister and myself our whole lives were to come alive. 

We loaded our furniture the bit that we had and we pulled away from 

Buckingham Street indeed I was not sad. 

The new adventure were starting we did not know it yet. 

As the lorry roared towards Ballyer and the night were very wet. 

The lorry turned off Ballyfermot Road and on to the Drive. 

I was guessing as to what house that we would all reside. 

Then we stopped outside this house with two rooms up and down 

Number 33 was on the door and it seemed miles from Dublin town. 

We started in the local school and the games we began to play 

Were Conkers, Marbles, Skipping and Piggy these games are replaced with 

Computer today. 

Our Communion and Confirmation came along and our parents did us proud 

and we were dressed in our Sunday best as we went out on the town. 

So we moved on to Mount La Salle this were the school to be in 

                                                 
5 Bill Cullen, it’s a long way from penny apples (Dublin, 2003), pp.114, - 118. 
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The Brothers and the teachers taught us all how to win. 

They taught us Gaelic and hurling and we played it after school. 

They did not let us play soccer because they did not know the rules. 

Then we did our primary cert, as we had to leave that school  

and so we had to move on to the college or tech to start another renewal. 

We moved into St John’s and had to buckle down. 

As our teachers told us this was the best college in town. 

We had to go in on a Saturday morning to Focus for our Inter. 

We worked hard that September but lost heart by the winter. 

I remember the Stew House where the Nuns gave out the meals. 

Sometimes we would go there to buy the penny deals. 

I remember the youth Clubs in Ballyer and Mount Olivet too where I have many 

happy memories of all that passed through. 

I remember the Ballad sessions we had on a Saturday night. 

When all the young people carrying guitars, would assemble through the night. 

Ballads would be sung Poems would be recited and all the members remained 

very united. 

Mount Olivet football club is where we played the soccer. 

We met and trained and played the game and we were there for each other. 

Hardy’s were the venue where tactics were discussed. 

Plans and dreams were made there. 

But often we fouled up. 

Saturday was the Gala day where we spent our turf money. 

We would head to dirty Aggie to buy our cleaves and goodies 

And when we would get to the Gala door big Harry would greet us with a roar. 

Saying, “If you mess I will be here and you will get in no more” 

As I drive through Ballyer and the memories come flooding back 

I think of all the bygone days the lads and all the craic. 

I try to tell my kids of the days that have gone past 

So they can pass it on to make the memories last.6 

 

                                                 

6 Ken Larkin, Growing up in Ballyer in the 50s 60s 70s (Dublin, 2004), pp 26-27 
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The Ranch 

  The Ranch is a small housing estate just before you enter lower Ballyfermot 

under the railway bridge from Inchicore. The postal address is Sarsfield Road, 

Inchicore, Dublin 10. The houses were built because the people were coming from all 

over the world to work in the Great Southern and Western Railway, (G, S, & W, R.) 

which is now known as the Inchicore Works. Saint Mary’s Terrace were the first 

houses to be opened for habitation in 1880. 

Figure 5 

 
Inchicore Road ran from Kilmainham Court House to the top of Chapelizod 

Hill known as St Laurence Road. Sarsfield Road was the main road coming in from 

the west, and this is where the cattlemen and farmers drove their herds down along 

Sarsfield Road and past the small housing estate and on into the markets in town. 
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Seamus Fleming, local historian, explained how the area known as the Ranch 

got its name. 

Around 1890 a former resident from Inchicore Road had returned for a visit to his old 

homestead from the United States and he was brought out to Inchicore north, which is where   

the Ranch is now to see the new housing development of red brick houses. He saw so many 

cattle on the road at the housing estate as they were being herded into cattle market in town he 

remarked that it was just like ‘A Ranch back in Texas’ and so the people adopted the name.  

 

Three ladies from the Ranch remember their childhood when they would travel back 

and forth from school and playing in Cant’s field at the back of the Ranch and 

everything was open and green. They saw their playing area taken away from them 

slowly as they watched the new scheme being built up. They remembered seeing the 

new people of Ballyfermot getting off the bus at the bottom of Sarsfield Road which 

was the terminus then, watching them as they struggled with their children and 

shopping through the muck of the building sites as they were walking to their new 

homes in the scheme. Their fathers and mothers referred to the new housing Sarsfield 

/ Ballyfermot estate as the ‘scheme’ and to the people who were going into the new 

houses as the ‘schemers’. A lot of the boys and girls from the Ranch married the 

schemers when they got older and went to live within the scheme.  

Figure 6 
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Figure 7 

 
 

The games that the Schemers and the Ranchers played together. Sketched in 1930s, by Syl 

Quigley from the Ranch.  

 

 

 

Figure 8 

 
Irish Times January 1953 the report on the new 78 bus service to Ballyfermot upper no longer 

had the people to get off the Bus at the end of the Sarsfield Road and walk through the 

housing scheme to their homes. 
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Little Sisters of the Assumption Sevenoaks 

A family that came from Sevenoaks, Kent, in England, originally owned the 

Sevenoaks House on Sarsfield Road. Then C.I.E. Inchicore Works purchased the 

property. June 1951 The Little Sisters of the Assumption purchased the property from 

C.I.E. The people of the Ranch and Ballyfermot have very fond memories of the 

Little Sisters of the Assumption. They were the first community of Sisters to move 

into the area and take up residents. The parish of Ballyfermot was not yet established, 

as the people were slowly moving into the area. Unemployment was a big problem. 

Many fathers were in England working. Therefore the mothers were left on their own 

to raise the family. The Sisters main apostolates were births, they also carried out 

night duties caring for the sick and dying of the parish. In the convent they carried out 

pre marriage courses and sewing classes for the young mothers which were sponsored 

by the Catholic Social Service Conference.  The Sisters also saw at first hand the 

community working for each other by sharing their allowances with neighbour and 

the neighbours in turn would also share with them. Many alter boys served mass in 

the Sevenoaks Convent down the years one of these boys who lived in the area was 

Diarmuid Martin who is now the Archbishop of Dublin.  

Figure 9 

 

 
 

Evening Herald 19 Oct 1965 Ballyfermot Library 
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Sadly tragedy hit the community of the Little Sisters of the Assumption in 

October 1965 when Sister Brendan Mary, on her parish calls, was involved in a 

collision with a car and van while riding her motor scooter at the junction of 

Kylemore Road and Landen Road and she died shortly after admission to the hospital. 

 

Figure 10 

 

 
View of Sevenoaks Convent before the apartments showing the spires of the Oblates Church, 

Inchicore in the background 
 

 

 
View of Sevenoaks October 2005. Apartments are now erected at the rear of the house 
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Khyber Pass. 

The Great Southern and Western Railway (G, S, & W. R.)  Which dates back 

to 1846 was just across from the Ranch and many of the men that lived in the Ranch 

worked for the Railway. They entered into the Inchicore Railway works from what is 

known as the ‘Khyber Pass’. Marie Duff (Devine) who wrote her family history told 

how she came to live in the Ranch. Marie’s mother died when she was three months 

old and she lived with her grandparents in number three Saint Mary’s Terrace. 

Marie’s grandmother told her that she remembered the Ranch being built and how she 

use to play amongst the scaffolding as a young girl. Marie’s grandfather served in the 

Royal Enniskillen Fusiliers and was stationed in the Khyber Pass in India. When he 

retired from the British Army, he came back to Dublin. He then got a job in the 

Works. His boss at the Works happened to be his Commanding Officer when he 

served in India. The boss told him that he had ordered seedlings trees from the Khyber 

Pass and that he wanted him to plant them down along the slipway into the works. It 

took three months for them to be delivered and he then planted them all along the 

slipway. This is how it got its nickname Khyber Pass and the name stuck to this day. 

Some of the trees are still there to be seen. 

 

Figure 11 

 

 
 

Photo by Ken Larkin shows the Khyber Pass leading to the Works 2005 

 

 



 17 

Chapter 2 

 

Building the Community 

 

 

Figure 12 

 
 

Very Reverend Canon Michael Charles Troy MA. BD. B.C.L. 

Canon Michael Charles Troy was born in Listowel Co Kerry in 1895. He was 

ordained to the priesthood at Maynooth College by Archbishop Byrne on the 19 June 

1921. His first parish were Dunboyne in Co Meath and he served there as a curate 

from 1921-23. On the 30 January 1923, he was appointed to the Little Sisters of the 

Poor in Kilmainham, which included chaplain to the prisoners in Kilmainham Jail 

where he would have met many of the Free State prisoners. The other parishes he 

served, as a curate were Greenane, county Wicklow 1925-28. St Michans, Dublin 

1928-33 and Terenure, Dublin 1933-51. On the 28 July 1951 he was then appointed to 

St Michaels Church Inchicore with part of his duties in what was to be the new parish 

of Ballyfermot. 

 On the 5 February 1953 he was appointed the first parish priest of 

Ballyfermot and went about preparing the way for the De La Salle Brothers and the 

Dominican Sisters to set up schools in lower Ballyfermot and later, The Sisters of 

Charity who ran St Louise school in upper Ballyfermot. There was no doubt of his 

love for Ballyfermot and its people as when he would be talking to anyone outside the 

area he would always say that ‘Dublin was a suburb of Ballyfermot’, and he would 

always boast that Ballyfermot had the largest schools in Europe which it had. He also 

helped to set up the Vincent De Paul in the area.  
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Brother Donal a De La Salle Brother who taught in Ballyfermot and is now 

retired and living in Ballyfermot knew Canon Troy very well, he recalls that the 

Canon’s passion was for the GAA and his beloved Kerry Team. In the early days the 

Canon presented a set of Jerseys to the Ballyfermot GAA team the colour of the 

Jersey’s were green and gold which happened to be the same colours of the Kerry 

Team. Ballyfermot GAA team still play in these colours today. The Canon had played 

for Kerry as a young man but never won an all Ireland medal. Soccer was a foreign 

sport to him.  

Canon Brady served in Ballyfermot as a young curate. Canon Troy was his 

parish priest he recalls that Canon Troy was a big man in stature as he stood over six 

feet but he also had a big heart. His devotion was to the Gaelic games, which he 

combined with his fundraising skills. He would organise the American Armed Forces, 

football team to play in Croke Park each year and the money collected would be given 

over to the Catholic Social Service, which is now known as Crosscare, and they 

looked after the poor of Dublin. Canon Troy died on the 11 November 1972 and was 

buried in the Little Sisters of the Poor Cemetery Kilmainham. His body were 

exhumed when the Convent closed and he now rests in Palmerstown Cemetery.7 

 

 

 

Parish Priest’s of Our Lady of the Assumption Church since 1953 

Rev Canon Michael Charles Troy 1953-72 

Rev Father Michael V Rodgers 1972-81 

Rev Father Peter Lemass 1981-84 

Rev Father Donal O Doherty 1984-93 

Rev Father Joe Kitt 1993 to date. 

Jack Roche was Sacristan in Our Lady of the Assumption Church for thirty four years 

from 1959 - 93 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
7 Brother Donal Ballyfermot Library File RB6-0  

Notes taken from Canon Brady 21 April 2005.  
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Painters Hut - Scheme first church 

The Painters hut situated on O Hogan Road within the grounds of Markievicz 

Park played many a role in Ballyfermot. It was used as storage shed for the Dublin 

Corporation workers when the first housing phase began. Fr Donal O Scannaill 

purchased the paint store for £200 from Dublin Corporation and it became the first 

church in modern Ballyfermot. It was used from 1950 until Our Lady of the 

Assumption Church opened in 1953. This shed was also used as a soup kitchen, nick 

named in the locality as the ‘Stew House’ where the Daughters of Charity of the St 

Vincent De Paul severed soup to the needy of the area. Our Lady’s of Victories youth 

club started there also.  

 

Our Lady of the Assumption Church 

Eamonn Mac Thomais the Dublin historian and author who died in 2002 wrote in the 

Irish Press on 2 June 1986 about his input in helping Ballyfermot get its new church. 

His parish church was St Michaels in Inchicore and one Sunday at mass Father Donal 

O Scannaill who was one of the curate’s in St Michaels and was also assigned to help 

start up the new parish of Ballyfermot appealed over the alter for door to door 

collectors to help build a church in Ballyfermot. Eamonn gave in his name as one of 

the volunteers. He received his collector’s book and he was off the next Sunday to 

collect on what were known as the newly wed houses on Muskerry Road.  

Figure 13 

 

 
. 

 Irish Press. Monday 2 June 1986 article about the newly wed houses in Ballyfermot 1951. 
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There were many other events organised by Father Donal and the community 

to raise funds for the new church. Such as social evenings which included, dances,  

‘Take your Pick’ called after a popular television show at that time, this was a game 

where the person playing had the choice to take money that was offered or open a 

box, and may win nothing. The biggest fundraiser was the ‘Buy a block’ for the 

building of Our Lady of the Assumption Church. Each block cost £1 and they sold 

3,300. Some people paid 6d. a week until the block was paid for, and when they had  

paid in full, they received a souvenir receipt to say, they that they owned one cement 

block in Our Lady of the Assumption Church.   

 

Figure 14 

 

 
The Ballyfermot Carnival Held in a Marquee in Markievicz Park to raise funds included in 

the photo is Father O Scanaill and Father Boland. 
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Figure 15 

 

 
Father Donal wrote in an article for the twenty fifth anniversary of Our Lady Assumption 

Church. 

 

‘The Joy of brining the Blessed Sacrament in a solemn procession from the Painters hut to our 

lovely new church will abide with me forever’. 
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Figure 16 

 

 
 
The first Mass said in Our Lady of the Assumption Church on 15 March 1953. The church 

was not finished, missing were the seats, and the pulpit. 
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Figure 17 

 

 
Robinson, Keefe and Devine designed Our Lady of the Assumption Church. Built by John 

Hughes & Son. Work started in May 1951. The church cost £68,000 to build. The Mahogany 

seats cost £10,000. Seating Capacity in 1952 was for 1,980 people. 

 

Figure 18 

 

 
Our lady of the Assumption Church complete with Seating and the Pulpit. 
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Inchicore and Ballyfermot Co-Operative Society Ltd 

Inchicore Co-Operative Society Ltd began in the Workman’s Club in 

Inchicore in 1946 and traded in the Inchicore area successfully. They applied to the 

housing department of Dublin Corporation in 1949 for permission to open Sarsfield 

Co-Operative Society within Ballyfermot and to operate a grocery retailers. A petition 

of over 1,100 signatures to grant the Co-Op the tenancy on Decies Road was sent to 

Dublin Corporation along with the application. The people that signed the petition 

were all residents of Ballyfermot and clearly wanted the society opened. It read as 

follows. 

 

 We the undersigned Residents of Ballyfermot Housing area petition Dublin 

Corporation to grant Inchicore Co-Operative Society Ltd, the tenancy of one of the 

Corporation-owned shops on Decies Road in Ballyfermot housing scheme for the purpose of 

Co-Operative grocery retailing in the interest of the residents in Ballyfermot 

 

As there were a small number of shops for such a large population in 

Ballyfermot the people felt that these shops were charging exorbitant prices. In 1949 

permission was granted by Dublin Corporation, for the Ballyfermot Co- Operative 

Society to open at 41 Decies Road Ballyfermot. A shop manager and staff were 

employed and they began to recruit people to become members of the Society. As a 

member, they had to commit to paying one shilling per week. Unemployment was 

high so this was a big commitment to some people that had very little. There was a 

good response and approx 500 members joined and most of these were resident in 

Ballyfermot. It ran very successfully for three years.  September 1952 the committee 

were holding an outdoor meeting near the Co-Op on Decies Road. The reason behind 

the meeting was to stress to the people how important it was to have a Co-Op in a 

working class area and to recruit new members. On the committee that was running 

the Co-Op, there were some non-political people; also, there were four people that 

were attached to the Irish Worker’s League, which had affiliation to Communism. 

The word Communist was a taboo subject in 1950s-60s not only in Ireland but also 

around the world. The four people involved in the Irish Workers Party were Joe 

Deasy, who was chairman of Ballyfermot Co-Op Jeffery Palmer, Maisy McElroy, and 

Sean Mcgee. During the meeting, there were interruptions, and barracking, by some 

of the public and the speakers were not allowed to speak. 
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 Questions were asked from some of the people gathered for the meeting. One 

of the questions that were asked ‘Was it true that there were Communists on the Co-

Op Committee’. 

Joe Deasy answered ‘He did not intend to discuss any member of the Co-Op or their 

politics as they were irrelevant to the existence and promotion of the Co-Op 

movement’. 

The Co-Op movement was non-sectarian and non-political in the sense that 

anybody could become a member of the society or a member of the committee 

irrespective of their politics. One person from the crowd shouted if he could get up on 

the platform to address a few questions to Joe Deasy. So he emerged from the crowd 

and had prepared questions written out. He asked was the chairman a Communist and 

were there Communists on the committee. He said that he was representing the local 

clergy. Joe Deasy repeated what he said before and then the person was asked to leave 

the platform. The following day he got a phone call from a Mr McGowan who was on 

the Co-Op Committee but was not a member of the Irish Worker’s League and he 

wanted to clear the air from the night before. He asked Joe if he was a member of the 

Irish Worker’s League and Joe said that he was and so were three other people on the 

committee. McGowan was shocked by this information and he said to Joe that the 

clergy were behind the unrest and that he had experience of the clergy being opposed 

to something in the past for various reasons and that they will be determined to see 

this through to the end. Joe said that they would have no objection to any of the 

priest’s joining the Co-Op Committee but they would have been treated the same as 

everyone else on the committee and they felt that the priest’s did not want it on that 

basis.  

The following Sunday in the three churches that served Ballyfermot and 

Inchicore the priest’s spoke from the pulpit about the previous outdoor meeting and 

how the chairman of the Co-Op was asked questions which he refused to answer.  

Therefore, as a result of this they decided that there were communist issues involved 

and the faithful were asked not to be members of the Co-Op or to patronise the shop 

in question. This had affected Joe personally arising out of being called off the altar 

not by his name but chairperson of the society and it was well known whom the 

priest’s were referring to. Joe’s parents who attended the church locally and who did 

good work in the area got an inclination of what was going to be said from the pulpit 
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and decided that they would get mass in an outside parish of James Street. This 

episode was very painful for Joe, and caused great anxiety in their family.  

Sean McGee’s parents who lived in Kilkenny were approached by the Garda 

and told what was happening in Ballyfermot and this meant a break in his relationship 

with his family for two years. 

Sunday, the 2 November 1952, the Sunday Press wrote an article condemning 

the Co-Op Committee and their communist activities and calling for the Co-Op to be 

shut down. A letter followed this from the newly formed Sarsfield Tenants 

Association to the Alderman, Councillors, and T.D.s of the area condemning the 

exposure of communist activities within the Co-Op. 
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Letters Concerning the Ballyfermot Co-Operative Society Ltd 

Figure 19 

 

 
 

Gilbert Library. Pearse St. File 153/01B 
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  Everybody who knows the slightest thing about communist technique knows that its 

first objective is contact. What better contact than the unsuspecting members of a Co-Op. 

Here let us state that the other Co-Ops and the producer Co-Ops in the country escaped that 

evil influence. It was Ballyfermot’s misfortune to be selected for infiltration. How appropriate 

are the names of Ballyfermot, Sarsfield, Decies, and Cremona, they might have been changed 

to Lenin, Stalin, and perhaps Deasy Road.8 

 

Therefore, public opinion changed against them and a picket was put on the 

shop. To save the Co-Op the four people admitted that they were members of the 

Communist Party and offered to resign from the committee but they would not resign 

from the Association as they to do so they felt that it would go against their Civil 

Liberties. Tim Graham one of the committee members met with the Irish Civil 

Liberties Association and explained what was happening. They decided that there was 

not a Civil Liberty involved in this case. The Co-Op Association was very 

disappointed with their decision. They could not understand how the Pulpit was being 

used to destroy a Society or a Co-Op movement that was set up to help the people 

especially working class people. The Co-Op survived for a few months after this. 

April 1953 the Co-Op had to close as it was not getting enough custom to be 

commercially viable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
8 The Standard, 14 Nov.1952.  
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Figure 20 

 

 
Gilbert Library. Pearse St. File 153/01Be 

 

The City Manager writing back to Sarsfield Residents Association about the 

 Ballyfermot Co-Operative Society Ltd. 
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Figure 21 

 

 

 
Gilbert Library. Pearse St. File 153/01B 

Letter from Canon Troy, 23 March 1953 to Dublin Corporation Housing department in 

connection with the Ballyfermot Co-Operative Society Ltd. 
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Figure 22 

 

 

 
Letter from the Assistant city Manager to Canon Troy in connection with the shop on Decies 

Road 28 March 1953. 
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Building the community in the early years. 

As the people were moving from the tenements of Dublin inner city to the new 

housing scheme. A group of the community started up what was then known as the 

Newlyweds Association. This helped people to meet their new neighbours and make a 

start in forming a community, as the parish progressed it had many problems. The 

houses were excellent, but it lacked many other amenities such as Garda Station, 

shops, dancehall, youth clubs, and football clubs. The new Our Lady of the 

Assumption Church, and the schools helped greatly in building the community as 

everything revolved around them. The church sodalities, May processions, church 

retreats and the Pioneer Association,  The Legion of Mary and the Vincent De Paul, 

which helped the new poor of the area. The new population of adults were starting to 

see the lack of amenities in the area for a vast number of young people. Some adults 

were volunteering to start up and run youth clubs, others were taking young people 

for football practice. Then the street soccer leagues started up and football teams were 

formed and began to play in the Dublin football leagues. Ballyfermot GAA Club 

began in 1953. Cherry Orchard Football Club started in 1957. Rosmore Boys Football 

Club started in 1958/59.9 Many more youth, GAA, and football clubs, started as the 

years went by with the help of the adult volunteers. 

 

 

                                                 
9 Ballyfermot People, Ballyfermot Library. File RB2B-000000T. 
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Figure 23 

 
 

The Gala Cinema was built by G & T Crampton and was officially opened by Canon 

Troy on the 23 May 1955. The first Cinemascope musical film shown was ‘Lucky 

Me’ starring Doris Day and Phil Silvers. There was seating for 1,850 people, which 

included the balcony. The owners claimed that it was the largest cinema in Ireland at 

that time. At weekends you could see large queues and you would not be guaranteed 

to get in.  There was one usherette and two ushers. Matt was one of the ushers and the 

other usher became a character never to be forgotten by any boy or girl from 

Ballyfermot at that time. He was affectionately known as ‘Harry the Hippo’. He 

would meet you at the door as you went into the Gala for the Saturday afternoon 

matinee and he would tell you in no uncertain terms what would happen if you were 

caught messing.10 There are many nice stories to be told about Harry by the 

Ballyfermot people. As with other suburban cinemas, numbers declined with the 

arrival of television. The Gala closed around April 1973. It opened up again in 1981 

as a roller rink. This was short lived, and since 1983, it has been operating as a leisure 

centre. 11 In December 2004 planning permission was soughed by Swampton 

Holdings to partly demolition the Gala Cinema and construct five blocks of five 

storeys, and one block of eleven storey Apartments. In January 2005 permission was 

granted with conditions set out by Dublin City Council. 

                                                 

10  Ken Larkin, Growing up in Ballyer in the 50s 60s 70s (Dublin, 2004),  p. 10 
11 Jim Keenan, Dublin Cinemas, (Dublin, 2005),  p. 121. 
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Oral Interviews with People involved in the building of the community in the 

early year 

 

John Sweeney 

John and Lily Sweeney were married in 1951 and were living in Sandymount. They 

got the news that they had won a house in the Newlywed draw. To qualify for the 

draw you had to be married five years and living in Dublin. John and Lily moved into 

19 Colepark Green around 1953-54. It was then discovered after fours years that the 

houses that they were living in as indeed all the newlywed houses were special 

houses. These houses were developed by Doctor Noel Brown to relieve the terrible 

stress on people that had T.B. so they built these special Corporation Houses that were 

specially subsidised by the then Government. These houses were at the end of each 

block or in some cases like Colepark Green, Ballyneety, and Thomond Road, the 

Corporation had built the houses all together. When the health board came to grips 

with the T.B. problem, they had this surplus of houses left over.  Alfie Byrne who was 

then the Lord Mayor of Dublin came up with this idea to issue houses to people that 

were newlywed. The Government would no longer subsidise people that were living 

in these houses permanently. Some of the people that lived in these houses were there 

longer than the four years, some may have lived in these houses for up to eight years 

and had children going to the schools and were working in Ballyfermot, so they were 

settled in the area. John and a group of the residents decided to do something about 

this so they formed the Ballyfermot Newlywed Association. They then approached 

Dublin Corporation about the problem. Dublin Corporation would not relent. The 

people that were in these houses could have been moved to Finglas, Crumlin, 

Drimnagh, even Ballyfermot but it would have to be a different house that they lived 

in. The Newlywed Association disagreed and after a lot of negotiations and 

deliberations with Dublin Corporation, it was agreed to build one hundred and thirty 

houses within Ballyfermot. The people had the option of taking these houses or going 

to other parts of the city. Most of the people stayed and it was the first time that 

Dublin Corporation built houses and allowed the people to select their new houses 

from a drawing board. John and Lily went to live in one of these new houses on 

Clifton Road.  
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Figure 24 

 
Evening Press article on the Newlywed houses 9 April. 1952. 
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When the people settled in their new houses they discovered that there were 

other problems within Ballyfermot. Unemployment was a major problem. Many 

people came from all parts of Ireland to live in Ballyfermot and had no association or 

feeling of living in Ballyfermot so John and a group set up the Ballyfermot Tenant’s 

Association in a hut on Rossmore Road in 1964-65. Before the Tenant’s Association 

was set up, the voice of the Ballyfermot people was Canon Troy and the local 

Councillors.  The Tenant’s Association were made up of men and women who were 

ordinary working people there were not trained sociologists or planners, they were 

learning as they went along. After about a year they decided to hold an inaugural 

meeting in the De La Salle School and invite all the residents, local Garda and clergy. 

During the meeting there were many speeches made, and John was elected chairman 

of the new Ballyfermot Tenant’s Association. The Ballyfermot Association had been 

going for about twelve months prior to that meeting but they decided to venture out 

into the open. During Johns address to the meeting he happened to say that 

‘Ballyfermot was designed as a place for lost souls’ but there was a lot more meaning 

to this sentence before and after he uttered these words.  

On the following Monday night John was coming home from work, he got the 

Evening Press, and the headlines read ‘Ballyfermot a place for lost souls.’ He was 

misquoted and within day’s John was told that priests of the parish and even his Grace 

the Archbishop of Dublin took exception to what John had said. They decided at the 

Tenant’s Association meeting that they could not take on the power of the Catholic 

Church or any other church as they had a lot of experience over thousands of years 

and the members of the Tenant’s Association were only little people in a very big 

forest so they decided to say nothing. But they did discover that Dublin Corporation 

could not reject any claims or requests from Ballyfermot Tenant’s Association 

providing that it was in writing so that’s the way they proceeded. There was a divide 

between the Ballyfermot clergy and the Ballyfermot Tenant’s Association, so much so 

that the Tenant’s Association were not let use any of the parish halls or schools for 

meetings, or events.  

About two years later providence took a hand when John went to a Christmas 

Mass in Our Lady of the Assumption Church. John or the Tenant’s Association had 

no contact with Canon Troy in all of this time. The Canon came out on the altar to ask 

the congregation would some of the people give a hand to organise the Communion 

queues. After a few more minutes the Canon came out again to make the same request 
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as no one had came forward, so John offered his services. The Canon looked at John 

and said ‘could he stop the people coming through the first aisle’. John got a few of 

the lads together to help him steward and they got the job done. On Saint Stephen’s 

morning a knock came to John’s front door and there was Canon Troy. He thanked 

John for all his help on Christmas morning and asked him was the Tenant’s 

Association still running the Senior Citizens Parties. He told John if the Tenant’s 

Association required anything, they could have it. John and the Tenant’s Association 

developed a good relationship with the Canon and the priests of the parish from then 

on and worked hand in hand on many matters in connection with community. John 

found the Canon easy to work with. However, they had to educate many people 

around them to let them know that the Tennant’s Association had a right to be there. 

They also developed a good relationship with Dublin Corporation.  

 

Figure 25 

 
Ballyfermot library file number RB2A-000071E 
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The Tenant’s Association decided that they needed to know more information on the 

Ballyfermot area and they decided to bring in Professor Geoffrey Copcutt who was a 

town planner to advise them. It was to Canon Troy’s credit that when they went to 

City hall to present the plan to the then city manager Mathew Mackey, Canon Troy 

said that the clergy’s work in Ballyfermot had been complete and the Ballyfermot 

people should be listened to now through the Tenant’s Association. At that time, there 

was a chance to stabilize the building work in Ballyfermot. The Tenant’s Association 

wanted to make Ballyfermot one community. John and the Association felt that they 

should have private houses integrated with Corporation Houses and then there would 

be a good balance of society within the area. But instead, Dublin Corporation lumped 

everybody in together. There were over 4,000 houses built in Ballyfermot in a very 

confined area. Ballyfermot was long and narrow with the river on one side and a 

railway on the other. Kylemore Road was not open at this time so it was straight 

through to Cherry Orchard and into Palmerstown. There was no money available to 

put Professor Copcutt’s plan into action which was to open out Ballyfermot but it did 

let Dublin Corporation see that the Tenant’s Association was organised and because 

of the media coverage that the Association was getting other organisations were 

taking notice and the Ballyfermot Tenant’s Association was asked to play a bigger 

role in the community. They also found that the people’s pride was changing in 

Ballyfermot, before they would say where they came from originally, now they were 

saying that they were from Ballyfermot. ‘They were a Ballyfermot person and proud 

of it’. 

As far back as 21 April 1964, Sean Dunne who was one of the T.D.s in 

Ballyfermot raised a question in the Dail Eireann about a Swimming Pool for the 

area12. Ballyfermot Community Association was also very much involved in 

negotiations with Dublin Corporation on this matter. In the 1970s the Ballyfermot 

people saw this dream come through with the opening of the Sean Dunne Swimming 

Pool. It is currently under construction and should be complete in 2007 which will see 

a complete new Sports and Leisure Centre being opened. The Community Association 

successfully negotiated with C.I.E. to bring the number 18 Bus service from 

Sandymount to Ballyfermot in the late 1960s. John said ‘Blood sweat and tears were 

put into Ballyfermot. The people got a mess at the beginning and the people 

                                                 
12 Website, http://historical-debates.oireachtas.ie/D/0209/D.0209.196404210035.html 
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themselves helped make and shape Ballyfermot as it is today,’ John said in conclusion 

‘That there is only one people that can lead the Ballyfermot people and that is the 

Ballyfermot people themselves’. They should be included in all decisions in the future 

that concern Ballyfermot. 

 

Figure 26 

 
L-R Tommy Phelan, Bob Keogh, John Sweeney and two members of C.I.E 

 

Bob Keogh 

Bob and Mary Keogh moved into Ballyfermot in 1959. Bob had heard of 

Ballyfermot but did not know where it was. Therefore when they received the key of 

their new house Bob followed behind a 78 bus to on his bike to find their house. Soon 

after he moved in, he joined along with a group of the residents the Ballyfermot 

Tenant’s Association. The Association had just started up. John Sweeney was the 

chairperson. Many of people at that time had all sorts of problems mostly concerning 

money as people had very little. Bob remembers one lady who came to his door at 

10.30 in the evening and handed him a letter from Dublin Corporation to say that 

herself and her family were to be evicted the next day because she was behind in her 

rent. Bob asked about her husband and she told him that he did not know anything 

about this, and that she was in debt with moneylenders as well. Bob and John 

managed to contact one of their contacts in the Corporation that night to ask them to 

delay the evection notice for a week. The next morning they brought the lady to the 
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Little Sisters in Sevenoaks. The Sisters managed to sort the problem out by getting the 

moneylender and the backlog of rent that the lady owed paid off. Bob has nothing but 

praise for the Little Sisters of the Assumption in Sevenoaks as they sorted many social 

problems like this out in Ballyfermot. In 1962-63, the Ballyfermot Tenant’s 

Association were also involved in the negotiations with Dublin Corporation, on behalf 

of the Tenant’s to buy out their houses. A good deal was set and many people bought 

out their houses. The Tenant’s Association then changed its name to the Community 

Association and Bob became the P.R.O.  

Figure 27 

 

 

Evening Herald 11 March 1971 

 

From the early days, Ballyfermot was getting bad press, mostly not deserved. 

Any bad news within a radius of two miles from Ballyfermot was reported as 

Ballyfermot. One headline stated ‘Ballyfermot Man got six months for beating wife’ 

when Bob investigated this report the man lived in Cherry Orchard opposite the 

hospital where the Industrial Estate is now and he had only lived there for ten days. 

Suddenly he became a Ballyfermot man. Bob met with the press and they apologised 

and printed a retraction. 
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Figure 28 

 

 
 

Another case was ’Seven Days,’ a weekly program shown on RTE Television in the 

1970s. They sent a camera crew out to the Glass Road to film some young lads that 

were cider drinking. The ‘Glass Road’ at that time was a nickname as suggested 

because it was full of dirt and rubbish and covered with broken glass. Some years 

before it was a field that divided the lanes from Ballyfermot Parade to the Avenue and 

was dug up by the Corporation and cemented and then left derelict for a number of 

years. This was shown on T.V all over Ireland. The Community Association protested 

strongly to RTE on the grounds that it gave the impression that Ballyfermot was a 

horrible place to live. There were many protest letters written in to the papers and 

RTE in connection with the program. The papers interviewed Canon Troy and he 

went on to say  

 

The program was stage-managed and was intended to show the steamy side of life. 

The vast majority of Ballyfermot people are decent and they were ignored. It was a disgrace 

and very unfair to the community13. 

 

A lady came forward to Ballyfermot Community Association to tell them that 

the lads were paid to stand around drinking while RTE filmed. RTE denied this and 

the Community Association were asked to send representatives from the Association 

to put their case across about Ballyfermot. Bob was one of the people selected. When 

the lady was asked to go with them she refused, as she was too shy to appear on the 

national television so they had to make the best case they could. After the show was 

over, John O Donohue, who was the presenter of the programme, was talking to Bob 

and he told him that his own community had their problems with drugs to which Bob 

replied ‘why did you not do a program on your community’. John O’ Donohue did not 

reply.  

                                                 
13 The Evening Herald, 10 March 1981.  
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Figure 29 

 

 
 

Ballyfermot Library. File Number RB2A-100371. 

 

Ballyfermot was getting a bad name all over the country because of inaccurate 

headlines and television broadcast. The headlines had many repercussions for the 

people of Ballyfermot. The main one was that when a Ballyfermot person would 

apply for a job nine times out of ten they would not get it solely because they were 

from Ballyfermot so when some of the Ballyfermot people were applying for jobs 

they would give wrong addresses. Because of the strong protests to the papers and the 

misleading headlines that Ballyfermot was getting, arrangements were made between 

the Editors of the newspapers and the Ballyfermot Community Association that 

before anything was printed about Ballyfermot it would be run through Bob to make 

sure the story’s were correct.  Bob served Ballyfermot well and has been involved in 

many voluntary organisations. He was twenty-two years a voluntary worker with 

Ballyfermot Credit Union as well as doing the plan giving in the area for Our Lady of 

the Assumption Church and he was on the educational committee of the Senior 

College. Bob praised all the people that served on the committees with him down the 

years and he went on to say. ‘That the people in Ballyfermot had very little but they 

had a great community spirit’.  
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Figure 30 

 

 
Second from left John Sweeney, Bob Keogh, Tommy Phelan, Kathleen Sharkey. 

 

Figure 31 

 

 

 
 
Tommy Phelan holding the first Ballyfermot Lord Mayors chain of office 1981. The chain 

was specially made by Lee Bros Moore Lane Dublin. 
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Tommy Phelan 

Tommy and Breda Phelan were involved in voluntary work where they lived 

in the Liberties. When they got their new house from the Corporation back in the 

1950s he swore that he was not going to get involved in any voluntary work again and 

like most of the people in Ballyfermot they had very little just starting off and they 

wanted to start afresh. That was to change when like John and Bob and many others, 

Tommy got involved in the Tenant’s Association. When people bought out their 

homes in the middle of the 1960s and the name changed to the Community 

Association this led him to get involved in the first Dublin Community Games in 

1967 and became assistant president. He was later to become chairperson of the 

Community Association. 

In the late 1960s he became a member of the educational committee for the 

then proposed Senior College. The committee met many obstructions along the way. 

Some of the obstructions were caused by other schools in the area where they thought 

that they would lose their second level of education, also where the Senior College 

would be situated as some of the people wanted it placed with the other schools in the 

area and the committee felt that it should be separated. As most of the money was 

coming from Europe, some of the clergy were afraid of what type of students that 

would be coming into Ballyfermot to be educated. The Senior College opened its 

doors on the ‘Glass Road’ in September 1979 and caters for students from all over 

and has proved most successful down the years. 

Figure 32 

 
Fifth and sixth from left Tommy Phelan and Bob Keogh on the committee of the senior 

College. 
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Traveller Community 

 

This name is taken to refer to the community of people who are commonly 

called Travellers and who are identified both by themselves and others as people with 

a shared history, culture and traditions.  As far back as 1952 there were always a 

Traveller Community in Ballyfermot. Their community started out in Cherry Orchard 

just across from the hospital where Cherry Orchard Industrial estate is now. They 

were moved around initially until 1968 specific accommodation was provided at 

Labre Park in Ballyfermot. When the plans to set up Labre Park were first released 

objections came from all quarters nobody seemed to want an Itinerant (as the 

Travellers were know then) camp next or near them. The Ballyfermot Tenant’s 

Association met with Mr Macken who was the city manager at that time to sort out 

what was then a problem. Mr Macken unfolded the complete plan of Labre Park and 

what he intended to doing in relation to the unsightly roadside camps that were spread 

out around the area. The Tenant’s Association agreed fully with the plans and made 

many suggestions that were later adopted. The city manager said at that time but for 

the cooperation of the Tenant’s Association Labre Park would have never got off the 

ground. Labre Park became an example to the rest of the country so much so that the 

Lord Mayor and Councillors from England and Belfast came to see how both the 

settled people and the Travelling people became a community. Since then many 

Traveller families have received accommodation such as standard housing, group 

housing and halting sites. New plans are in place for a new housing plan for Labre 

Park to begin in 2006. 
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Ballyfermot Community Association Television 

July 1974 saw Ballyfermot lead the way in Ireland after negotiations between 

Ballyfermot Community Association and Phoenix Relays to provide community 

television. Initially operated in black and white but due to an investment by Phoenix 

Relays in an outdoor broadcasting television unit, it was not long before programmes 

were been produced in colour. Community News, cultural entertainment, 

documentary and consumer information were televised to every home within the area. 

Then Phoenix Relays were forced on financial grounds to withdraw their services. A 

sub committee became even more committed to the idea of community television for 

Ballyfermot.  Negotiations were undertaken with the then Minister for Post and 

Telegraphs, Mr Conor Cruise O Brien and after lengthy talks B.C.A. T.V. became 

licensed to operate on the Phoenix Relays cabled T.V. The only other licence to 

broadcast then was Radio Telefis Eireann.  Having advertised locally for new 

members this brought a great response. In the summer of 1979, several pilot 

programmes were produced, directed, and presented completely by new volunteers 

from Ballyfermot. B.C.A. television went from strength to strength.14 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
14 Ken Larkin. Growing up in Ballyer 50s 60s 70s ( Dublin 2004 ) , p. 24 
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Population from the Central Statistics Office.  

 

  Year            Population    Area Hectares 

  1936                           619                      

  1951                          13,209 

  1956                          31,892 

  1961                          37,247 

  1971                          29,002 

  1979                          25,525 

  1981   27,132   807 

   2002   26,940   807 

 

 

Figure 5 

 
 

In 1996 and 2002 the name Ballyfermot was not mentioned in the censes reports. This 

was because they changed the electoral divisions. It is described as follows. 

 Cherry Orchard A, Carna, Cherry Orchard C, Decies. Drumfinn, Inchicore A, Inchicore B, 

Kilmainham A, Kylemore. 
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Chapter 3 

 

Ballyfermot Amenities 

 

Figure 33 

 

 
 

The Lord Mayor of Dublin Catherine Byrne Presenting Nicky with Ballyfermot Heritage 

Person of the year for 2005. 

 

Nicky Brennan grew up in Brunswick Street in the inner city and moved to 

Landen Road with his mother and sister in 1951. He immediately joined the Legion of 

Mary in Ballyfermot. Many young people joined the Legion of Mary back in 1960s 

just for something to do. Nicky was one of the leaders that gave up his free time to 

take a gang of boys and girls climbing Croagh Patrick, the Sugar Loaf, on hikes to 

Massy estate and Enniskerry. He even introduced a lot of young people to their first 

dance as he organised dances for all and he and the other leaders would be the first up 

on the floor when the slow set came on, not to dance but to make sure that they were 

not dancing to close to the girls. Ballad sessions and debating were also on his 

agenda15. Nicky to this day has continued his voluntary work in Ballyfermot through 

the Legion of Mary. He has been running the religious shop in Our Lady of the 

                                                 

15 Ken Larkin, Growing up in Ballyer in the 50s 60s 70s (Dublin, 2004), pp 26-27 
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Assumption Church for a number of years and attending parish meetings. Nicky is 

eighty-three and he still has the same enthusiasm of the young man that he was back 

in the 1950s. Many of the young people were privileged to know Nicky and indeed 

many other people down the years owe him a lot not only for the way he took many 

young people off the streets and gave them something to do but for his entire 

voluntary work for Ballyfermot. Nicky’s voluntary work was recognised in 

September 2005 by Ballyfermot Heritage association when they presented him with 

the Ballyfermot Heritage Person of the Year for 2005.   

 

Terry O Neill 

Terry who lived on Kylemore Road moved to Ballyfermot in the spring of 

1958 from the North Circular Road. The reason he moved to Ballyfermot was that the 

previous year he was appointed to the position of chief projectionist at St Benildus 

hall. This hall was at the rear of the De La Salle National School. Every Wednesday 

afternoon a film would be shown in the hall, this matinee was nicknamed the 

‘sixpenny rush’ as it cost 6d to get in. Terry also tells of a full week of concerts held 

in the school back in 1960 and how three young lads who called themselves the 

‘Harmonichords’ performed on the stage of the school. The same three lads went on 

to become world famous having changed their names to the ‘Batchelors’. 

 

Figure 34 
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St Benildus hall De La Salle National School 

The opening of Radio Telefis Eireann proved to be the final curtain, as it 

finally succumbed to the financial pressure of dwindling attendances and stopped 

showing films. Terry went on to be well known in the parish as he became a full time 

professional photographer in the area taking many of the communion, confirmation, 

and wedding photographs down the years and also for his great community work in 

Ballyfermot.16 

 

Figure 35 

 
Ballyfermot Community news 1969 advertisement for Terry O Neill studios 

 

 

Roddy Day School Teacher Mary Queen of Angles School 1969 

 

If it were not for the foresight and determination of a local schoolteacher Mr Roddy 

Day from Saint Louise School, Ballyfermot would still be without a scout troop so 

reported the Ballyfermot Community magazine in December 1969. He quickly 

overcame the first obstacle by obtaining the necessary permission and found a 

meeting place for the proposed Boy Scout troop. On 10 March 1969 in the play centre 

on Kylemore Avenue, the first twelve recruits were chosen and a long period of 

training began. On 16 November 1969, the first investitures were held in the convent 

chapel of Saint Louise. The first scouts of Ballyfermot took their scout promise in the 

presence of their troop Chaplain Father Randles, the committee and their parents.17  

Roddy loved sport and gave a lot of his free time helping and training the young 

                                                 
16 Billy French, The Assumption Parish. (Dublin, 2003), p. 23. 
17 Ballyfermot Community Association, Magazine, (Dublin, December 1969), p. 3.  
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people of Ballyfermot, not only in the school he was teaching in, but also in the De La 

Salle National School.  

Schools in the Area 

Dr John Charles McQuaid, Archbishop of Dublin in the 1940s, was concerned for the 

pastoral care of the people in the vast new area of his dioceses and for the pressing 

need of primary schools, for both boys and girls. The De La Salle Brothers and the 

Dominican Sisters from the Cabra congregation were invited by him to undertake the 

education of the children. Both orders accepted the invitation, which was going to be 

a challenge as there was an immense school-going population, many of whom had 

never been to school, even though they were seven or eight years of age.  

 

Figure 36 

 
Aerial view of Mount La Salle National School 1952 

 

Mount La Salle National School  

The Superior General Brother Athanase Emile laid the foundation stone for the De La 

Salle Brothers Monastery after having being blessed by Archbishop McQuaid on 6 

June 1950. Macben of Dun Laoghaire was the contractor for the Monastery. The 

building of the schools itself began at the same time the Contractor being T.C. 

Crampton. The builder’s providers for both contracts were T.C. Martin. In 1950, the 

builders stopped work on the sites for two months because of a demarcation dispute 

between the Unions. The Plumbers Union claimed that the copper roofing was 

exclusive to their Union. After arbitration, their claim was allowed and the work 

continued. The schools were divided into three buildings. The first school building, 

which was named Scoil Iosagain, was opened in 1952. Brother Thomas was the 
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principal and the other teachers were Brothers Ailbe, Romuald, David, Philbert, 

Joseph, and James. Brother Andrew managed the small farm. 

 

Figure 37 

 
Mount La Salle Boys Band 1958 Ballyfermot Library file 

 

The following September Scoil Muire and half of Scoil Seosaim opened. The De La 

Salle Brothers allowed the Dominican Sisters to have five infant classes in the top 

storey of Scoil Iosagain as they were waiting for their school to be finished. There 

were four lay teachers and twenty-three Brothers. The lay teachers were Messrs 

Keegan, Murphy, O Gallachoir, and O Flatharta. In September 1954, the Dominican 

Sisters vacated the top storey of Scoil Iosagain, as their schools were now completed. 

Mount La Salle had 1,600 boys in the school in the 1950/60s and 50 pupils per class. 

Today there are 546 pupils and twenty-two pupils per class. 18 

                                                 
18 Brother Donal, Ballyfermot Library. File RB6-0. 
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Figure 38 

 

 
The De La Salle Brothers and Teachers 1960s. 

 

Figure 39 

 
Mount La Salle School. Scoil Iosagain, Scoil Muire, Scoil Seosaim. Schoolyard where 1,600 

boys played in 1950-60s. 
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Dominican Convent School 

  Mother Reginald Lyons, the Dominican Prioress General who answered Dr 

McQuaid’s request agreed to provide the Sisters to teach in the girl’s school. The 

Dominican Sisters asked the De La Salle Brothers for a loan of some rooms in Scoil 

Iosagain. The top corridor of schoolrooms were given over to the Sisters. On 8 March 

1953, six Dominicans Sisters arrived in Ballyfermot and enrolled over 300 junior girls 

as their first pupils. As the demand for places in the school were so great, rules were 

made that any parent applying for a place had to guarantee that their children were at 

least over six years of age, and had not received their first Holy Communion and had 

not attended any other school.  

 

Figure 40 

 

 
Photo of the Dominican School 1954 

 

Mother Ignatius Gorman was the first principal of the school, there were five 

Sisters teaching, and they had sixty pupils per class. It was claimed that Ballyfermot 

girl’s school was the largest in Europe. There were more than 4,000 pupils attending 

when it was at its peak towards the end of the 1950s.  The first year was spent in the 

De La Salle School while the three blocks of the Dominican Convent School were 

being built. The Sisters travelled from Cabra each day and from 1954 onwards, as the 

number of the teaching Sisters increased, some travelled from the convent in Eccles 

Street. The first lay teachers were engaged when their new school opened in 1954. 

The Dominican Sisters of the 1950-60s were an enclosed order so they did not go 

outside the convent grounds, except for a very important reason and then they only 

travelled by car.  
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This meant that they could not go to the parish church with the children for the 

first Holy Communion or Confirmation. The lay teachers brought the classes to the 

monthly confession, Holy Communion, and Confirmations. When the school was at 

its peak in numbers there were usually about 600 First Communicants each year. This 

included boys and girls. 19 Today there are three schools and one secondary school in 

the Dominican complex St Raphael’s has sixteen teachers and 245 students, St 

Michaels has twenty three teachers and 280 students, and St Gabriel’s twenty three 

teachers and 170 students. 

 

Figure 41 

 
St Dominic’s - Dominican Convent Secondary School 

 

The Dominican girls Secondary School opened its doors in September 1957. Fees of 

about £12 to £14 per annum were charged for the secondary school education as this 

was before the ‘free scheme’. Not everyone could continue with the secondary 

education because some parents could not afford the fees. Therefore, when the ‘free 

scheme’ came in 1968, all welcomed it as this gave more girls a chance to further 

their education. Clubs were opened at night within the school for girls who had to go 

to work when they left the primary school. One of the innovative ideas which became 

a reality were the mother’s meeting of the pre-first Communion children. In today’s 

world of ‘Board of Management’ and parent’s involvement in school events mothers 

meeting may seem very simplistic. Nevertheless, the Sisters persevered and it 

eventually blossomed into parents meetings.    

 

 

                                                 
19 Sister Marie Kealy, O. P. (Sister Cynthia), Ballyfermot Library, File RB6-01. 
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Figure 42 

 

 
Johnston House 

 

Johnstown House was not always as big as it is today. The original school 

started in the house, which is now the Brother’s Monastery. The house itself has a 

very interesting history and even its external appearance is impressive. The house is 

believed to have been built in 1745 as this date was found inscribed on a wall in the 

basement of the house. One of the early owners was Lord Spring. The O’ Toole 

brothers who were farmers at the turn of the century purchased the house and its 

surrounding lands. They used the lands to maintain their dairy herd. The brothers 

themselves never lived in the house but they rented it out to suitable tenants. One of 

these tenants was Sir Richard Levinge, who was a Director of Guinness’s Brewery. At 

that time Johnston House was covered by trees and shrubs and could not be seen from 

the road as a long avenue ran from the house straight up as far as the Silver Granite in 

Palmerstown which was the entrance to the house. The avenue was later dug up in the 

late 1940s to make room for a housing programme in the area but the outline with its 

railing’s could be still seen, in 1967 and can be still seen today. During the 1940s, the 

house became unoccupied and rundown.  
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Wild bushes, shrubs dotted the landscape, the locals knew it as a spooky place, 

and many stories were told about ghosts that roamed the grounds. Rumours were also 

rife at that time about a headless horseman, which was said to appear sometimes at the 

entrance gate and ride up to the old avenue and down as far as the school wall and 

disappear. Many of the scenes in the film ‘Return to ‘Glennascaul’ starring Orson 

Welles, were filmed in the hallway of Johnstown House- notably the Ghost scene in 

the film.  

In 1955, the De La Salle Brothers decided to open a secondary school in 

Johnstown House. During the work of converting the building into classrooms, the 

workmen heard strange noises. They were alarmed to the extent that they threatened 

to stop work unless the foreman took action. The Brothers gave permission to wall off 

a part of the basement where the noises were coming from. When this was completed, 

the noises stopped and the work continued as normal20 

 

Figure 43 

 

 

 

Saint John’s College 

Seventy-five pupils enrolled in the college in 1955, and at this stage the 

teaching staffs were working out of Johnston House. The new college building was 

completed in 1957. 

                                                 
20 Ballyfermot Library, File rb6-014. 
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 In 1969, a new stone built wing was added to the original building. In 972 

there were four hundred students attending the college. Today there are forty lay 

teachers, two De La Salle Brothers and 520 pupils. 

 

Figure 44 

 

 

 

Canon Troy and Father Daly Blessing the site of St Louise’s 

 

On 8th October 1958, Sister Colmcille and Sister Maria Walsh from the order 

of The Daughters of Charity of the Saint Vincent De Paul came from Holy Angels 

Glenmaroon in Chapelizod to open the playground centre school at Kylemore Avenue 

Ballyfermot. The Sisters were given a list of 200 boys aged 6 years old plus. The 

existing schools were full to capacity and it was decided to open a temporary school. 

The Educational Department granted a special concession of dual days. The school 

commenced at 9am and finished at 12 mid-day for the first 100 pupils. The second 

day commenced at 12 mid-day and ended at 3pm. The school were christened ‘the 

kindergarten school’ and the playground was then open to the public. In July 1959, 

the first girls were admitted with a view to moving in to the new school on Drumfinn 

Road where it is today. On 1st October 1959 the Sisters started with four classes in 

Johnston House. 
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Figure 45 

 

St Louise’s School 1970s Ballyfermot Library file No RB6-006. 

 

On 12th September 1960, they then moved to Drumfinn Road and occupied the first 

six classrooms. The dual day continued with six classes, 50 pupils per class from 

12.15pm to 3.15pm. There were then eight lay teachers and five Sisters on the staff. 

On 7th Jan 1961, the junior school was completed (twelve class rooms in all). In July 

1961 the first pupils from the junior school were transferred to the senior school. 

During all this time the Sisters had to travel from Dublin City and some from 

Glenmaroon in Chapelizod. On 22 August 1961, nine Sisters came to stay in 

Ballyfermot. 
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Figure 46 

 

 

Some of the Teachers from St Louise’s Ballyfermot Library 
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Figure 47 

 

 

Right – left Sister Colmcille, Father Daly, Canon Troy, and Sister Marie Walsh with the first 

communion children and teachers. 

 

Kylemore College 

The second level school first opened its doors in 1965 as a Vocational school. 

The original name was Scoil Lorcan. The name later changed to the Connolly Block 

and the newly opened second block was called the Emmet Block. The first principal 

of the school was Mr Anton Trant and Mr Short was the vice-principal. The school 

was renowned for its sporting achievements. On 3 September 1969, the school won 

the schools cross country championship and won many sporting championships after 

that. Their showcases were always stocked with sports trophies. 
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Figure 48 

 

Caritas College 1967 

 

Caritas College opened its doors to students in 1967. The word Caritas was 

chosen by the first school principle, Sister Catherine, and it is a Latin word, which 

means ‘love’. The school began in a small way with prefabricated buildings in the 

grounds of St Louise’s. There were eight teachers and forty students. After two years 

the green terrapin building was erected and lasted twenty-five years. The Sisters at 

their own expense put up a gym hall.  With considerable help from the parents two 

brick buildings were added, one consisting of a science laboratory, all-purpose area 

and art room as well as six other classes. These are now part of the present modern 

school, which were built in 1994-95 and was opened in 1996. Another great change 

was when the senior college opened on the Glass Road. Caritas College became a 

junior school and only educated girls as far as Intermediate Certificate (as it was 

known then.) In 1989, the Leaving Certificate was restored to Caritas College. The 

Sisters appreciated the help and support down the years from the parents for all the 

school activities. 

 

Figure 49 

Photo by Ken Larkin, Caritas College 2005 
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Figure 50 

 

 

The Celtic Tiger has done much to try to lure the students away from the school and 

into the job market. However, the Ballyfermot people have always put a high value on 

their children’s education.21 

 

                                                 
21 Sister Catherine, Ballyfermot Library, File number RB6-013. 
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Figure 51 

 

 

President Robinson planting a beech tree to commemorate her visit to Caritas College for the 

twenty fifth anniversary of the College. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 65 

Mary Queen of Angels School. 

 The boy’s national school Mary Queen of Angels began in Johnston House 

where the De La Salle Brothers made three rooms available. Three teachers took the 

first group of children in the morning  and another three teachers took a second group 

in the afternoon. By April 1962, six rooms were ready for occupation. In July 1962, 

there were twelve teachers and Mr P.J. O Doherty was the principal. By July 1963 the 

second school, which were for the juniors, were opened and Mr Keegan was the 

principal. The numbers of boys increased both in the junior and senior school and 

peaked at 1,299 pupils. Today there are 27 teachers and 320 pupils in the senior and 

junior school. 

 

Figure 52 

 

 

Some of the Mary Queen of Angels Teachers from the beginning 
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Markievicz Park 

Markievicz Park has played a great role in Ballyfermot down the years. The 

painter’s hut acted as the first Catholic Church on O’ Hogan, just inside the park until 

Our Lady of the Assumption Church opened its doors on 15 March 1953. It also 

served as a food house, nicked-named locally as the Stew House, where The 

Daughters of Charity of St Vincent De Paul served meals to the poor and needy of the 

area. A new food centre was later built on the Glass Road in 1963.  Our Lady of 

Victories youth club also started out there. Surrounded by Ballyfermot Road on one 

side and Decies Road on the other the total size of the Park is 5 hectares. The Park is 

called after Countess Markievicz who was the first female Government Minister and 

was prominent in the war of Independence. Back in the early 1960s Cannon Troy P.P 

planted the first trees. He had a great love for Gaelic games and with his intervention 

to Dublin Corporation this led to the development of the Park. At that time it only 

catered for GAA sports, as the Canon would not allow soccer to be played. As the 

years progressed soccer posts were erected and the soccer leagues and seven a sides 

were played there. Some of the local soccer teams that played in Markievicz Park 

were Bromley, Lally, and Black Diamonds. A playground, and 

 all-weather, sport pitch was built on in the late 1990. There is a plan to carry out 

improvement work in the park in 2006, which entails a new playground, all weather 

pitch, and upgrading pavilions, boundaries, and planting. Also new gates will be 

erected on Ballyfermot Road entrance to the park so that Markievicz Park can remain 

not only in our heritage but also for the Ballyfermot people to continue enjoying for 

years to come as they have done so in the past. 

 

Le Fanu Park “The Lawns” - Graveyard 

Le Fanu Road, Blackditch Road, and Clifton Road surround the Lawns Park. 

It covers an area of 16.75 hectares. The park was called after the writer Joseph 

Sheridan Le Fanu who was born on 28 August 1814 in Dominick Street. His father 

was a Church of Ireland curate and was Chaplain to the Royal Hibernian Military 

School in the Phoenix Park. Joseph spent some of his childhood walking and playing 

around Chapelizod and in the fields on which Ballyfermot is now built. He has written 

about some of the locations in the Ballyfermot and Chapelizod areas in his works. The 

Park was developed in the late 1950s. It has eight soccer pitches, tennis courts, and 

changing room facilities. The old graveyard was situated on one section of the Lawns 
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just across the road from where the Cloverhill Houses are now. Some children in the 

1960s used to go to play Cowboys and Indians in the graveyard and to have street 

war’s with other gangs, as all the streets had a gang then. The headstones were broken 

and unreadable at that time. 

Billy French author and poet who lived in Crumlin at that time recalls this 

graveyard as when he was a young man working with Crampton the builders in 1952. 

They were starting to build the houses on Le Fanu Road. He walked across the road to 

see this graveyard.  

When Billy went home in the evening and told his father about what he saw, 

his father told the following story. His father was a boy at the turn of the twentieth 

century in the heart of the Liberties. There was terrible poverty and the child mortality 

was the highest in Europe. As there were no insurance then when a child died, the 

men would have to make coffins out of fruit boxes from the markets. In 1913 there 

was not a shilling to be earned and there was no social welfare like children’s 

allowance or other benefits. Some of the children that died were buried at night 

illegally. His father remembered walking behind the horse and cart along with other 

men as they set out for a place called Ballyfermot to bury those little infants in the 

darkness of the night. Many years later Billy was telling the story to a De La Salle 

Brother who was a local historian and the Brother found the story very interesting. 

The old graveyard ran alongside the Killeen Road and the word Killeen was an old 

Irish name for ‘burial place for children’ and the Brother said to Billy that all over 

Ireland there were ‘Killeen Roads’.22 

 

Ballyfermot Credit Union 

The credit union movement was established in Ireland in 1958. In 1963, Joe 

Ryan from Landen Road, who later became the first president of the Ballyfermot 

Credit Union, along with a small group of parishioners from the community came 

together to discuss and to gather information on credit unions and so began the 

Ballyfermot Credit Union. The De La Salle Brothers who took an active roll in the 

Ballyfermot community came to their help and offered them the pavilion at the side of 

St Benildus hall on Saturday and Monday nights. Early growth was slow because the 

                                                 
22 Billy French, The Assumption Parish, (Dublin,  2003) , p. 36. 
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idea was new to the people. By March 1963 the shares were £0 7s. 6d. interest spread 

and membership increased so that by the end of 1963 they had enrolled 369 members. 

Figure 53 

 

The pavilion where Ballyfermot Credit Union started in March 1963. 

 

Gradually In 1967 it became apparent that if a proper service has to be given 

and more members taken on, that they would require improved accommodation. So, 

they moved into rented rooms at 294 Ballyfermot Road. Their weekly rent was £15 

per week. 

 

Figure 55 

 

        Advertisement to get more members 1969       Shares and loans 1963/68 
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The Credit Union membership grew dramatically and by early 1976 they had a 

space problem again. Number 280 Ballyfermot Road came up for sale. Three people 

from the credit union went to the auction and came back with the good news that they 

had purchased the premises. 

Figure 54 

 

 

Photo by Ken Larkin Ballyfermot Credit Union 2005 

 

The growth continued and full time staffs were employed during the day as 

well as two evenings a week and all day on a Saturday. The credit union has helped 

many of the Ballyfermot people solve major problems from the beginning by 

curtailing the moneylenders, as well as helping the people to buy out their houses 

from the Corporation and at the same time helping them to save their money.   

Hugh Harris is the longest serving volunteer as he has being on committees 

within the credit union since 1963. He was chairman of the credit union from 2003/05  

and  has seen major changes down the years. Hugh was nominated by the Ballyfermot 

Heritage Group as the Ballyfermot Heritage Person of the year for 2006/07 for all his 

voluntary work with Ballyfermot Credit Union. 

In 2005 major refurbishment were carried out to the premises with a new 

entrance to the building and an ATM machine, which makes them the first credit 

union to introduce this service to Dublin city. With total membership of 13,097 and 

members shares at €23,955,558 it is a credit not only to the few pioneers from 

Ballyfermot that started the credit union but also to all the voluntary workers and staff 

down the years. 

 

 Some notes taken from the Ballyfermot Community Association Magazine, 1968-69 

written by Joseph Carroll who was then the President of Ballyfermot Credit Union, and Mr 

Bert Langan. 
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Written by Tommy Phelan Author and Poet 
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Chapter 4 

 

Ballyfermot Today 

 

In 1972 a second parish was established in Ballyfermot named St Matthews 

and on the 22 December 1974 St Matthews Church was officially opened with seating 

to  accommodate 912 people. Then 1985 the first community library in Ireland opened 

in Ballyfermot, encompassing both the adult and the children library under the one 

roof and providing an information centre and exhibition rooms. 

 

Figure 56 

 

Ballyfermot Library. File No RB2D-131190 

1989 The news that Ballyfermot was going to be a smog free area. 
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Figure 57 

 

 

 

Dublin City News. Ballyfermot Library. File No RB2D-000096 

Ballyfermot won the best new entry in the Tidy Towns 1996 
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Figure 58 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The old Community centre, which made way for the Ballyfermot Civic Centre in 2001. 
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Figure 59 

 

 

October 2004 Ballyfermot wins the second best place to live in the world. 

 

The LivCom Awards were launched in 1997 and are endorsed by the United Nations 

Environment Programme. LivCom is the world’s only awards competition focusing 

on best practice regarding the management of the local environment. The objective of 

LivCom is to improve the quality of life of individual citizens through the creation of 

‘liveable communities’. LivCom is non-political, embracing all nations and cultures, 

and over 50 countries are represented within the awards. 
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Figure 60 

 

 

 

Ballyfermot finishes second place in the World to live. 

 

In October 2004 ten people from Ballyfermot travelled to Canada to represent 

their community at the four-day event. This culminated in the announcement of the 

decisions from an international panel of world-renowned judges that Ballyfermot, 

won the silver medal, which meant that Ballyfermot, was judged the second best town 

in the world to live. The judgement involved five categories 

Use of Environmentally Sensitive Practices, Community Involvement, Heritage 

Management, Enhancement of the Landscape, and Planning for the Future. 
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Cherry Orchard  

 

Cherry Orchard in the early days of the Ballyfermot housing scheme was known only 

for the fever hospital, but today it has become a very vibrant community. In 1985 saw 

the opening of the Most Holy Sacrament Church although the church was part of the 

Assumption parish it catered for Cherry Orchard and Cloverhill estates. With the 

opening of St Ultan’s Primary school by An Taoiseach Bertie Ahern on the 1 

September 2006 and the new Report on the Community Consultation and work plan 

2006 – 2009 by the Cherry Orchard Regeneration Forum Cherry Orchard can only go 

from strength to strength as a community.   

 

 

Urban Ballyfermot 2001/06 

Urban Ballyfermot Ltd is a non-profit company funded by the EU and the 

Irish Government based in Ballyfermot, with a budget of €11.4 million to spend up to 

2006. Representatives from the community, local groups and relevant government 

departments are on Urban Ballyfermot’s Board of Directors and its committees, acting 

in an advisory capacity to urban management since it began. In 2001 Ballyfermot 

secured the only EU Urban programme in Ireland. The funding plans that were 

approved by the EU were developed through extensive consultation throughout the 

community. Based on this plan, Urban Ballyfermot has been able to commit funding 

to community projects between 2001 and 2006. The money is being spent in the 

community for the community of Ballyfermot on youth and family, building and 

environment, and groups and organisations working together. The projects that Urban 

is now running and supporting are innovative and self sustainable. This urban 

initiative has brought Ballyfermot a step further. The people always had a great 

community spirit down the years and they now have finance to help them along with 

their different projects and community work so that the future looks good for all in 

Ballyfermot. 
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